## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	
	SC03-293
Complainant-Appellee,	
v.	
	The Florida Bar File
MARJORIE HOLLMAN SHOUREAS,	Nos.2002-51,797(17J)
	and 2003-50,524(17J)
Respondent-Appellant.	
/	

### **RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822 RICHARDSON & TYNAN, P.L.C. Attorneys for Respondent 8142 North University Drive Tamarac, FL 33321 954-721-7300

## **

### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The Florida Bar, Appellee, will be referred to as "the bar" or "The Florida Bar." Marjorie Hollman Shoureas, Appellant, will be referred to as "respondent." The symbol "RR" will be used to designate the report of referee and the symbol "TT" will be used to designate the transcript of the final hearing held in this matter. Lastly, the symbol "TFB" followed by a letter and number will designate the bar's trial exhibits.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On April 8, 2003, the Referee, the Honorable Edward A. Garrison, entered a default in favor of The Florida Bar and on May 7, 2003, the Final Hearing was held and based upon this default the Respondent was found guilty of neglecting two clients' cases and of failing to adequately communicate with these two clients. Further, the Respondent was found guilty of two counts of failing to respond to The Florida Bar.

A short analysis of the facts of this case is important to understand the nature of the misconduct at issue. In the first situation addressed by the Referee, the Respondent was found guilty of neglecting Felipe Mantorval's personal injury case against Publix Supermarkets. RR2. The Respondent was retained by Mantorval in October of 2000, which is approximately six months after Ms. Shoureas was admitted to The Florida Bar. RR2 & RR11. At a point unknown in the record, Mantorval moved to Brazil, but claims to have made "numerous attempts to contact respondent." RR2. The Report of Referee continues that the Respondent did not return Mantorval's calls (presumably to Brazil) and that

As this case proceeded upon a default, the matters plead in the Bar's complaint were accepted as true. However, this has left the record not fully developed as to the facts. For example, we do not know when Mantorval moved to Brazil and how or if this complicated communication with the client and for how long.

Mantorval was unable to ascertain the status of his case. RR2-3. It seems that in August 2001, Mantorval borrowed money from Pilot Finance and pledged his potential settlement as collateral for the loan. RR3. Pilot Finance attempted to discuss the status of Mantorval's case with the Respondent and the Referee has found that the Respondent failed to respond to these requests for information. RR3. Notwithstanding that Pilot Financial is not a client, the Referee has improperly found Respondent guilty, in Count III, of both provisions of the client communication rule<sup>2</sup> and a procedural rule. RR8. Lastly, the Respondent was found guilty of having failed to Respond to the grievances filed by Mantorval and Pilot Finance. RR8.

The second matter addressed in the Report of Referee concerns the Respondent's representation of Sylvia Herrera. According to the Report of Referee Herrera retained the Respondent in March 2002 for a dissolution of marriage proceeding and paid the small sum of \$450.00 to commence services in this regards. RR5. Based upon the default, the referee has found that the Respondent "took little or no significant action in the case" and that she failed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.4.

to adequately communicate with Herrera. RR5. The Referee has also found the Respondent guilty of failing to respond to Herrera's grievance.

After finding the Respondent guilty of all matters referenced in the Bar's complaint, the Referee has recommended that the Respondent be disbarred for this misconduct and that restitution of \$400.00 be made to Mantorval and \$450.00 to Herrera. It is the Respondent's position that this sanction is not warranted under the circumstances and case law, and she is therefore appealing the Referee's sanction recommendation<sup>3</sup>.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Respondent comes before this Court having been convicted of neglecting two client matters, failing to communicate with these same clients and failing to respond to the Bar, after having previously been suspended for ninety-one days for similar misconduct. The Referee has recommended the Bar's capitol offense - disbarment. It is respectfully contended that this sanction does not fit the misconduct for which the Respondent was convicted.

The Respondent does not take issue with the restitution award.

The Respondent was defaulted below and the factual record of this case is therefore very limited. Somehow the Referee has extrapolated from this meager record and the fact that the Respondent has neglected four client cases (over two distinct disciplinary matters) that this is sufficient evidence of abandonment of a law practice, even though when this case came on for final hearing the Respondent was already serving a suspension from the practice of law and was therefore unable to be representing clients at that time.

The Referee has also found the Respondent guilty of violating the client communication rule, by failing to communicate with a nonclient. This ruling is clearly erroneous and should be reversed.

Lastly, disbarment is reserved for cases of gross misconduct and in situations where there is no hope at reformation or rehabilitation of the accused lawyer. A review of this case will demonstrate that this is not a case of gross misconduct and that this lawyer, who was admitted in March of 2000 is capable of rehabilitation and should be given the chance to demonstrate same to the Court.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. DISBARMENT IS NOT THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR A LAWYER WHO, NEGLECTS TWO CLIENT MATTERS, FAILS TO ADEQUATELY COMMUNICATE WITH

# THOSE TWO CLIENTS AND FAILS TO RESPOND TO THE FLORIDA BAR CONCERNING THESE GRIEVANCES.

At issue in this appeal is whether a lawyer, who neglects two client matters, fails to adequately communicate with those two clients and fails to respond to The Florida Bar concerning the grievances filed by these clients warrants the ultimate sanction of disbarment. It is the Respondent's position that disbarment is too draconian a sanction under the facts of this case and that a rehabilitative suspension is appropriate. See for example The Florida Bar v. Davis, 379 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 1980) [Disbarment is an extreme penalty and should be imposed only in cases where rehabilitation is improbable.].

It is well settled that a referee's findings of fact and guilt<sup>4</sup> are presumed to be correct and the appealing party has the burden to demonstrate that these findings are "clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support." The Florida Bar v. Canto, 668 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1996); The Florida Bar v. Porter, 684 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1996). However, this Court has consistently held that it has a broader discretion when reviewing a sanction recommendation because the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Respondent is appealing one finding of guilt (addressed later in this brief), but the real issue in this brief concerns the appropriate level of sanction.

responsibility to order an appropriate sanction ultimately rests with the Supreme Court. <u>The Florida Bar v. Thomas</u>, 698 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1997).

### A. The Factual Predicate for the Disciplinary Sanction.

The Respondent has been found guilty of two distinct acts of client neglect<sup>5</sup> and related lack of communication charges and for failing to respond to the grievances filed by these particular clients. In the first instance, the Respondent is charged with neglecting a personal injury case for Mantorval and in the second instance she is charged with neglecting a dissolution of marriage action for Herrera. As this Report of Referee is predicated upon a default, certain key facts such as the harm, if any, suffered by these clients is not present in the record. The lack of communication charges suffer from the same lack of specificity. In any event, for purposes of this appeal it is conclusively proven that the Respondent did in fact neglect two client matters, failed to adequately communicate with these two clients and later

The Bar has combined a R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.1 lack of competence violation with each neglect count. While not ignoring that this is a separate violation, these two charges often go hand and hand as such the undersigned will be generally referring to these two counts of misconduct as neglect counts.

failed to respond to The Florida Bar concerning the two grievances. The Court must therefore decide what sanction is appropriate for this misconduct.

### B. Neglect normally warrants a public reprimand.

As noted in The Florida Bar v. Price, 569 So. 2d 1261, 1263 (Fla. 1990):

(d)ecisions of this Court have established that "(p)ublic reprimand is an appropriate discipline for isolated instances of neglect or lapses of judgement." (Citations omitted).

In <u>Price</u>, the attorney was found guilty of neglect of a client matter, as well as conduct prejudicial the administration of justice and failing to follow the objectives of his client. Mr. Price received a public reprimand.

Similarly, an attorney was publicly reprimanded for neglect of a client matter by missing a statute of limitations and for failing to advise his client of same. The Florida Bar v. Whitaker, 596 So. 2d 672, 674 (Fla. 1992). The Court went on to state that:

Our case law demonstrates that public reprimand is more appropriate in cases such as this which involve neglect of client matters. (Citations and footnote omitted).

It is also important to note that a public reprimand is not precluded if the accused lawyer neglected more than one client matter. See for example The Florida Bar v. Barcus, 697 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1997). In Barcus, the lawyer neglected several distinct cases for related clients and this Court reduced the referee's recommended thirty day suspension to a public reprimand. In making this change the Court relied upon The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions (hereinafter referred to as "Standard \_\_\_\_"). While the Court discussed Standard 4.42 to explain why suspension is not appropriate due to the lack of intent and ultimate harm to the client, the better Standard for this case is Standard 4.43 which comments that:

Public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer is negligent and does not act with reasonable diligence in representing a client, and causes injury or potential injury to a client.<sup>6</sup>

In the case at hand the record is devoid of any mention of harm or injury to either client. The record also makes no mention that respondent's action were anything but negligent. Accordingly, Standard 4.42 would not apply to this case either as this Standard requires a finding of (a) a knowing failure to provide services or (b) a pattern of neglect that "causes injury or potential injury to a client."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> An admonishment would be appropriate if little or no harm to the client was found. Standard 4.44.

### C. Mitigation and Aggravation require adjustment of a sanction.

Certain mitigation and aggravating factors are used to enhance or minimize the disciplinary sanction that is to be imposed. In this case the Referee has found several aggravating factors and ignored a mitigating factor<sup>7</sup> that was present in the record before him. The Referee has found five aggravating factors. The Respondent agrees that three of the factors apply, but strongly disagrees with two factors and the overall weight given to these aggravating factors.

Prior to discussing aggravation, the Respondent wants to point out the mitigating factor that appears in the record of this case, but is not mentioned by the Referee. At page 11 of the Report, the Referee notes that the Respondent was admitted to the practice of law on March 31, 2000. The conduct at issue occurred prior to her three-year anniversary as a member of The Florida Bar. Accordingly, Standard 9.32(f) [inexperience in the practice of law] applies in this case and should be considered as an important element of mitigation because inexperienced lawyers have a more difficult time in extracting themselves from unfortunate situations, such as the one presented in this case where disciplinary charges are pending and the lawyer has not found a way to defend herself until this appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As the Respondent was defaulted and did not appear at the final hearing, she did not present other mitigating factors that may be present in this case.

The first aggravating factor found by the Referee is the Respondent's disciplinary record. The Referee correctly states that the Respondent received a 91-day suspension from the practice of law in Supreme Court Case No. SCO2-2226. This suspension was ordered on February 20, 2003, is also based upon a default and finds the respondent guilty of neglecting two client matters, along with communication violations and failing to respond to the Bar. The Respondent acknowledges that this is an appropriate aggravating factor, but would make two arguments as to the weight to give the 91-day suspension. Firstly, while not attempting to make it look like the Respondent is now appealing the 91-day suspension, it is important to note that perhaps a 91-day suspension for two isolated neglect of client matters was a rather stern sanction for the first discipline imposed on a relatively new lawyer and that a public reprimand may have been more appropriate under the circumstances. See for example Price; Barcus. Secondly, this appears to be similar to the situation faced by the Court in imposing a proper sanction on a different lawyer. The Florida Bar v. Maier, 784 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 2001). In Maier, the Court suspended the lawyer for sixty days when that lawyer neglected a client matter, failed to properly communicate with the client and also failed to respond to the Bar notwithstanding a more

extensive disciplinary record. <u>Maier</u> had a thirty-day suspension and two admonishments for similar misconduct. The Court in Maier stated that:

Maier's violations in the instant case involve the same type of misconduct that were the subject of her three previous disciplinary actions. See generally <u>Florida Bar v. Morrison</u>, 669 So.2d 1040, 1042 (Fla.1996) (finding that "[i]n rendering discipline, this Court considers the respondent's previous history and increases the discipline where appropriate"). Since this is Maier's fourth disciplinary proceeding in the last seven years, and Maier was suspended for thirty days in 1998, see <u>Florida Bar v. Maier</u>, 707 So.2d 1127 (Fla.1998), we believe that a sixty-day suspension is appropriate in the instant case.

The operative term from the <u>Morrison</u> decision, as discussed in <u>Maier</u>, is that the "Court considers the respondent's previous history and increases the discipline where appropriate." Even though the <u>Maier</u> Court was faced with a lawyer with a much longer disciplinary record, 8 the Court took what was a public reprimand type of violation and enhanced it to a short term suspension. This Court should do likewise in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Compare Shoureas's 91 day suspension to Maier's three disciplinary orders, which included a thirty day suspension and two admonishments. Even in the Bar were to argue that the two disciplinary records are similar, there is no palatable reason not to follow the reasonable <u>Maier</u> enhancement, rather than the excessive leap from short term suspension to disbarment.

The second aggravating factor found by the referee is found at page 9 of his report, wherein he finds "a pattern of misconduct" and "multiple offenses." The Respondent candidly admits that on the record before this Court this finding is appropriate. However, the Respondent contends that this finding, standing alone, should not enhance public reprimand type violations to a disbarment.

The Referee has also made finding that the "Respondent has obstructed these disciplinary proceedings by intentionally failing to comply with rules or orders of the disciplinary agency." See Standard 9.22(e). Apparently, the Referee is referring to the fact that (1) the Respondent was found guilty of failing to respond to the Bar during the underlying grievance procedures and (2) that she allowed a default to be entered against her by not responding to the Bar's complaint. As to the first instance, the Respondent is already being disciplined for a substantive violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(g) [failing to respond to the Bar.] and it seems patently unfair to also use the same issue as an enhancement of that same discipline. While understanding that the second noted matter (not responding to the Bar's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> A public reprimand is the normal sanction for this type of violation. See for example <u>The Florida Bar v. Vaughn</u>, 608 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1992).

Complaint] is an aggravating factor, the Respondent has already suffered the consequences of her actions in that a default was entered against her.

The Referee also finds that the Respondent was "indifferent to making restitution" and apparently is using this finding to aggravate the discipline to be imposed. RR10.. See Standard 9.22(j). This finding is "clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support." Canto. While the Referee is recommending that restitution in the amount of \$400.00 be made to Mantorval, there is no mention, at all, in the factual findings established by the default regarding what monies were paid to Respondent by Mantorval or even if he requested a refund of the monies that he paid to the respondent. Similarly, the findings of fact make no mention that Herrera demanded a refund of the \$450.00 that she paid for the initials services to be rendered in her divorce and yet the referee has ordered a refund of that fee and found that the respondent was indifferent to making restitution. Most respectfully, there is no basis for the Referee, on this record, to have made such a finding.

At the final hearing the Bar relied upon the default and did not present any further evidence. Accordingly, the only facts that constitute the factual record of this case come from the Bar's complaint and the Bar's complaint does not make mention of the amount of monies paid by Mantorval.

The last finding that appears to be considered as aggravation is the Referee's finding of abandonment. See RR 10 (E) & (F). This finding is likewise "clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support." Canto. The record in this case reveals that the Respondent neglected two client matters and if you consider the Referee's knowledge of the 91-day suspension case, the Referee was aware of two more neglected clients. The record, established by the default, is devoid of any mention of other neglected clients and further makes no mention of an abandonment. Further, the record on appeal has no information concerning the Respondent's other clients (during the period prior to her suspension), whether she continued to work on other client matters or even if she continued to appear in her office on a daily basis. Lastly, at the time that the Referee conducted the final hearing and executed the Report of Referee, in June of this year, the Respondent had already suspended from the practice of law for some four months and therefore could not be representing clients pursuant to Court order. Therefore, there is no factual basis to support a finding of abandonment on the record before this Court.

### D. The Sanction Recommendation.

It is anticipated that The Florida Bar will primarily rely upon the precedent set forth in the Report of Referee to establish its support of the disbarment recommendation. Thus, it is important to analyze these cases and to demonstrate that each of these other disciplinary matters are either more serious than the matters currently before this Court.

In the first case cited by the Referee, <u>The Florida Bar v. Setien</u>, 530 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 1988), the lawyer was disbarred for neglecting five client matters and for issuing multiple bad checks. The Court found that when the "Composite conduct of (a) lawyer is gross" disbarment is warranted. <u>Id.</u>, at 300. Setien's misconduct is greater than the Respondent's in that he neglected one more client, with harm to the client, issued multiple bad checks and the record was clear that he abandoned his practice and was even "in hiding" for a time. <u>Id.</u>

In another cited case the lawyer was disbarred for accepting fees on four cases and then promptly abandoning the practice of law. The Florida Bar v. Ribowsky-Cruz, 529 Sop. 2d 1100 (Fla. 1988). In the case at hand, there are two clients and no record of abandonment.

The Referee next cites to <u>The Florida Bar v. Friedman</u>, 511 So. 2d 986 (Fla. 1987). The misconduct in <u>Friedman</u> was significant. The Court found wholesale abandonment, neglect, fraud, misrepresentation, and conversion of trust funds. In reaching the decision to disbar the Court noted:

That act (abandonment of practice), in conjunction with the specific acts of neglect, fraud, misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary responsibility, conversion of funds and trust account violations set forth in The Florida Bar's complaint amply supports this disciplinary recommendation. <u>Id.</u>, at 987.

There is no true comparison of the facts of <u>Friedman</u> to the case at bar. Further, there are no trust account issues or fraud or misrepresentations present in this case. Thus, <u>Friedman</u> should not be considered as valid authority on this particular case.

Likewise <u>The Florida Bar v. Murray</u>, 489 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1986), which is cited in the Report of Referee, is much more serious than four instances of neglect, with no known harm. In <u>Murray</u>, the lawyer was disbarred for abandonment of his practice with significant real harm to the clients.

Lastly, the Referee relies upon The Florida Bar v. Bartlett, 509 so. 2d 287 (Fla. 1987). Admittedly, there are some similarities in Bartlett in that the lawyer was found not to have participated in the disciplinary process<sup>11</sup> and stood convicted of neglect. However, the differences are significant. The Court noted that Bartlett had already been *suspended twice* for neglect of client matters over a two and a half year period. Id., at 288. Further, these suspensions were for thirty days and fifteen months. Id., at 289. In the case sub judice, the Court has a lawyer who was suspended once and for ninety-one days and not twice for more than five times that in toto.

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