IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No. SC03-293

Complainant-Appellee,

v. TFB Case Nos.

2002-51,797(17J)

MARJORIE HOLLMAN SHOUREAS,

2003-50,524(17J)

Respondent-Appellant.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

ADRIA E. QUINTELA, #897000

Bar Counsel

The Florida Bar

5900 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 835

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309

(954) 772-2245

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS, #253847

Staff Counsel

The Florida Bar

651 East Jefferson Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390

Executive Director
The Florida Bar
651 East Jefferson Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent, despite the fact that she never contested any of the Bar proceedings, in fact ignoring the same and showing a total lack of disregard for the process, now wishes this Court to set aside the findings made by the Referee. Respondent would argue to this Court that these findings should be set aside and that the discipline given to her, disbarment, is not warranted. To allow Respondent to make a mockery of the Bar process by her willing refusal to participate in any portion of the proceedings, despite ample notices and opportunities given to her, and to allow her to abandon her clients and her practice without receiving a disbarment would be inappropriate, unjust, and contrary to justice.

Disbarment is the appropriate remedy for a lawyer who has taken money from her clients and failed to represent them, failed to diligently pursue their cases, failed to communicate with them, has abandoned her clients and her practice, has failed to participate in any part of the disciplinary process, has ignored repeated requests for a response to Bar complaints, and has prior discipline for engaging in the same type of conduct she is accused of in the instant case.

Respondent has abused the privilege of practicing law and deserves the harshest sanction available.

ARGUMENT

POINT I - THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS ARE CLEARLY SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD, ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, AND SHOULD THEREFORE BE UPHELD.

Respondent attempts to advance a two prong argument. First, she attempts to argue several times throughout her Initial Brief that there is not enough record evidence to support the Referee's findings of guilt in that there is a lack of specificity as to how Respondent neglected Mantorval's and Herrera's case and how she failed to communicate with them. Respondent, however, eventually acknowledges that the alleged lack of specificity, if any, is due to the fact that the referee entered a default judgment against Respondent for her failure to contest any of the Bar's allegations and her failure to appear at the final hearing.

Respondent also alleges that there is no evidence to support a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.4(a) and (b) in Count III of the Bar's Complaint in that Pilot Finance, Inc. is not a client of Respondent's, thus she has no duty to communicate with them. As found by the Referee, Mr. Mantorval not only authorized Respondent to pay certain monies owed to Pilot Finance, Inc. out of any settlement received from Publix Supermarkets, but also authorized Respondent to release any and all information about his case to Pilot Finance, Inc. RR3. As a result of this, Pilot

Finance, Inc. became an agent of Mr. Mantorval's and therefore stood "in the shoes" of Mr. Mantorval, and thus Respondent had a duty to communicate with them as well. See Font v. Stanley Steemer International, Inc., 849 So. 2d 1214 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003); King v. Young, 107 So. 2d 751 (Fla. 2d DCA 1958)(An agent steps into the shoes of the principal and acts for him pursuant to the grant of authority vested in him by his principal). Thus, the Referee made a correct finding when he found that Respondent violated R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.4(a) and 4-1.4(b) by failing to communicate with representatives of Pilot Finance, Inc.

In considering Respondent's argument and evaluating the Referee's findings of fact, the Court will recall the principles articulated in <u>The Florida Bar v. Dubbeld</u>, 748 So. 2d 936, 940 (Fla. 1999):

A referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. The Florida Bar v. Beach, 699 So. 2d 657, 660 (Fla. 1997). If the referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee. The Florida Bar v. Bustamante, 662 So. 2d 687, 689 (Fla. 1995). The party contending that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt

are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions. <u>The Florida Bar v. Miele</u>, 605 So. 2d 866, 868 (Fla. 1992).

Accordingly, it is Respondent's burden to prove that there is no record evidence to support the Referee's findings, or that such evidence contradicts her conclusions. She met neither burden in her Initial Brief. To the contrary, the record is replete with evidence to support both the Referee's findings that Respondent is guilty of violating all of the rules charged by the Bar, and that disbarment is the only appropriate sanction.

POINT II - DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR A LAWYER WHO TAKES MONEY FROM HER CLIENTS AND NEGLECTS THEM AND THEIR CASES, FAILS TO COMMUNICATE WITH HER CLIENTS, WILLFULLY REFUSES TO PARTICIPATE IN THE BAR DISCIPLINARY PROCESS, ABANDONS HER CLIENTS, AND HAS ALREADY RECEIVED PRIOR DISCIPLINE FOR SIMILAR MISCONDUCT.

A. The Case Law Supports Disbarment

The argument most advanced by Respondent's Initial Brief is that disbarment is too harsh a discipline for Respondent. Instead, Respondent argues that a lesser sanction of some sort is appropriate as disbarment is an extreme

sanction. First, it should be noted that the Court has held that neglect of legal matters warrants disbarment. See The Florida Bar v. Gunther, 400 So. 2d 968 (Fla. 1981). Gunther is extremely similar to the instant case in that respondents in both Gunther and the instant case had each agreed to represent their clients and collected fees for the representation; in each case thereafter failed to take any action on the client's behalf; in both cases the clients repeatedly attempted to contact the Respondent after their initial consultation and payment of fee to no avail; and in both cases Respondents made no appearance before the Referee. Id. at 969. See also The Florida Bar v. Friedman, 511 So. 2d 986 (Fla. 1987) (Neglect of legal matters and other violations and the abandonment of a law practice warrants disbarment); The Florida Bar v. Setien, 530 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 1988) (Disbarment is appropriate when an attorney neglects client matters).

Likewise, in The Florida Bar v. Mitchell, 385 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1980), the Court held that:

Complete disregard of responsibilities as lawyer and as officer of court, resulting in serious harm to public, without any known mitigating reasons, would warrant disbarment. <u>Id. See</u> also The Florida Bar v. Horowitz, 697 So. 2d 78 (1997).

In the instant case, like in <u>Mitchell</u>, Respondent has shown a total and complete disregard of her duties. She has accepted fees from clients, done no work on their cases, refused to communicate with them, and totally abandoned them. No mitigation has been shown.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Murray</u>, 489 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1986), the Court also found that neglecting legal matters warrants disbarment without leave to reapply for admission for a period of five years. <u>Id.</u> at 31. In <u>Murray</u>, unlike in the instant case, there was evidence introduced that Respondent suffered from drug and alcohol problems, thus perhaps explaining or mitigating his misconduct. <u>Murray</u> at 30. No such evidence was ever introduced or alluded to by the Respondent in the instant case, thus making her misconduct much more inexcusable than that in <u>Murray</u>; <u>See also The Florida Bar v. Bartlett</u>, 509 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 1987).

In <u>Bartlett</u>, the Court made several findings which are clearly applicable to the instant case. First, the Court stated that repeated similar instances of attorney misconduct should be treated cumulatively so that the lawyer's disciplinary history can be considered as grounds for more serious punishment than the misconduct considered in isolation might seem to warrant. <u>Id.</u> at 289. Thus, while Respondent in the instant case argues that a public reprimand is the

appropriate sanction, this would only apply to an isolated instance of neglect where the Respondent does not engage in other violations, does not abandon her practice, and has no prior disciplinary history. The instant case involves much more than an isolated instance of neglect and deals with a respondent who has prior disciplinary history as was considered by the Referee and as will be discussed in greater detail below.

In <u>Bartlett</u> the Court also stated that refusal to participate at all in the disciplinary process when a lawyer is accused of misconduct calls into serious question that lawyer's fitness for the practice of law. <u>Id.</u> What is most astonishing about the instant case is Respondent's total disregard for her clients and the Bar throughout all of these proceedings and her sudden plea to this Court to excuse her conduct. Respondent's conduct, contrary to all of her arguments, warrants only the most severe sanction.

Finally, in <u>Bartlett</u>, the Court held that the appropriate sanction for an attorney's neglect of all legal matters that had been entrusted to him when the attorney had been similarly disciplined in the past for that kind of misconduct is disbarment. <u>Id.</u> at 288. The Referee took into account in the instant case, as he should, and as did the Referee in <u>Bartlett</u>, Respondent's prior discipline. In the instant case, Respondent has been the subject of prior disciplinary

orders, specifically, Respondent received a ninety-one (91) day suspension in Case Number SC02-2226. RR9, 11. This prior suspension also involved Respondent's neglect of clients. RR11. While Respondent argues that normally neglect warrants a public reprimand, she fails to mention that in all of the cases cited, The Florida Bar v. Price, 569 So. 2d 1261 (Fla. 1990); The Florida Bar v. Whitaker, 596 So. 2d 672 (Fla. 1992); and The Florida Bar v. Barcus, 697 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1997), clear distinctions apply.

In <u>Price</u> the attorney disciplined had no prior disciplinary history and the Court specifically stated that "...his conduct only resulted in an inconvenience and annoyance to his clients." <u>Price</u> at 1262. In the instant case, however, Respondent has significant prior discipline and her conduct in abandoning her clients and their cases resulted in prejudice to the clients, not a mere annoyance. The Court has always treated cumulative misconduct more harshly than an isolated and single act of misconduct. <u>The Florida Bar v. de la Puente</u>, 658 So. 2d 65, 70 (Fla. 1995).

In <u>Whitaker</u>, likewise, the Respondent had no disciplinary history, thus the Court found that a public reprimand with probation was more appropriate. <u>Whitaker</u> at 674.

Barcus, cited by Respondent, is also clearly distinguishable. First, Barcus, unlike Respondent, had no prior disciplinary history. Barcus at 73. Second, the Referee found that the complainants had taken advantage of Barcus and manipulated him. Barcus at 75. Third, there was no finding by the Referee in Barcus that the complainants had suffered any harm. Id. Finally, the Court noted there was no pattern of negligence. Id. All of these factors clearly make Barcus distinguishable form the instant case.

Additionally, in not one of those cases did Respondent abandon her practice, abandon her clients or show a total disregard for the Bar proceedings unlike in the instant case. Time and time again, the Court has held that an attorney who abandons her practice and clients should be disbarred. <u>See Friedman</u>.

B. The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions Warrant Disbarment

Furthermore, not only did the Referee find that the case law supports disbarment for Respondent's misconduct in the instant case, as did the fact that Respondent's prior discipline should be considered as an aggravating factor, but the applicable Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions also mandate disbarment. In assessing what discipline

is appropriate the Court must consider the duty violated, the lawyer's mental state, the potential or actual injury caused by the lawyer's misconduct, and the existence of aggravating or mitigating factors.

Under Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 4.41, the Referee found that disbarment was appropriate. RR10.

Disbarment is appropriate when:

- (a) a lawyer abandons the practice and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client; or
- (b) a lawyer knowingly fails to perform services for a client and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client; or
- (c) a lawyer engages in a pattern of neglect with respect to client matters and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client.

There is no doubt that Respondent abandoned her practice, failed to perform the services she was paid and hired to perform, and engaged in a pattern of neglect with respect to client matters which led to injury to her clients.

C. The Aggravating/Mitigating Factors Also Warrant Disbarment

There are several aggravating factors found by the Referee in the instant case which also make a disbarment the only appropriate sanction. First, Respondent, as stated above, was disciplined for similar misconduct on February 20, 2003 (date of Order) receiving a ninety-one (91) day suspension. RR9,11. Respondent, therefore, unlike in the cases

cited by her, is no stranger to the disciplinary process, having, in fact, significant disciplinary history. The Referee found that this was an aggravating factor pursuant to The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions under Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.22(a).

The Referee also found that Respondent had engaged in a pattern of misconduct under Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.22(c) RR9, obstructed the disciplinary process under Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.22(e) RR10, and was indifferent to making restitution under Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 9.22(k) RR10.

All of these factors were proper for consideration by the Referee and lead to the only logical conclusion - the Referee's findings must stand as they were supported by the record and were appropriate given the case law, standards and aggravating factors present.

CONCLUSION

Respondent was found guilty by the Referee of numerous rule violations in several client matters. She was also found to have been nonresponsive to the Bar and to have abandoned her clients and her practice. She has prior discipline for similar misconduct, which the Referee took into account in making his finding. Those findings are all

supported by the record and are not clearly erroneous. This Court has the duty to uphold those findings unless they are found to be clearly erroneous. Furthermore, Respondent has demonstrated a total disregard and disrespect for her clients, her profession, and the Bar. The Referee found that said conduct, taken in totality, considering the appropriate standards, the case law, the aggravating factors which are present, and her past disciplinary history, warrants disbarment. There is ample support for that conclusion, and in fact, no other conclusion would be appropriate. As such, this Court should uphold the Referee's findings and his recommendation that Respondent be disbarred.